FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 11/18/2021 2:38 PM FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/18/2021
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 100392-7

Court of Appeal Cause No. 81783-3-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF KENT, Petitioner

v.

ADRIAN JACOBO-HERNANDEZ, Respondent

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Bijan T. Hughes, WSBA #51814
City of Kent
Office of the City Attorney
220 Fourth Avenue South
Kent, WA 98032-5838
(253) 856-5770
(253) 856-6770 (facsimile)
BHughes@KentWA.gov

I. INTRODUCTION

A man drives down a street, looking for somewhere to live. He needs somewhere to park his home, which he doesn't think has much life left in it. He notices on the side of the road: vehicle after vehicle after vehicle. They found what he is looking for. They are all domiciles. He parks his truck in a lot and proceeds on with his life. He works and when he is not working, he stores his tools in his truck. Some time passes.

At some point, officials alert him that he's on a municipally owned lot. He's asked to move a block — a pro forma shuffling of the neighborhood. He declines to do so. One day his home is impounded by a private company that has a contract with the city. This destabilizes his life and causes him to miss several weeks of work. A process follows, and what was a \$44 civil infraction becomes \$537 of debt on a payment plan. The private company contracted by the city needs to be reimbursed for its contribution to public service. The man's take-home pay will drop for months. It's not clear how long

exactly. One of the realities of living a life with low liquidity is late fees and collection charges which make end dates on debts a fuzzy concept. Thinking this unfortunate series of events as unnecessary and unfair, the man asserts his right to not be subject to an excessive fine.

A different man at a different time and place runs a business which is not succeeding. Like others in similar situations, this man takes a gig to supplement his income. It pays in cash. He gets a car from a scrapyard, fixes it up and becomes part of a supply chain. Periodically he drives his car north, taking with him thousands of doses of poison intended for human consumers. It would be impossible to exactly say how many people would ingest the product he moved; how many tried the product for the first time on a shipment that the man brought north; and impossible to say how many died from their dose. Causal chains to end-users are there but no one will seriously try to trace them. After all, the sort of strict product liability that gets applied to most every product in the regulated market is not a concern in this unregulated one.

Notwithstanding the harm caused, the man continues with the gigs. The advantages of cash payments can be persuasive.

The gigs are profitable up until the sting operation. The man takes his car to a garage and presents a local official with approximately \$30,000 worth of product. A process follows. Like many cases, his settles. The federal government is saved the costs of trial, and the costs of imprisoning a person in the long term. The unregulated market participant pays with time. The surviving consumers of the product transported by the man continue on the paths of their addiction.

The man goes to prison. The car that he was arrested with takes up space in a municipally-owned lot. The law enforcement agency that conducted the sting is responsible for the car's care as bailiff of the property, still owned by the man. Time passes. The agency starts a process to take ownership of

¹ Methamphetamine Trends Across Washington State, University of Washington, Addictions, Drug & Alcohol Institute, (last updated Aug. 4, 2021), available at https://adai.washington.edu/WAdata/methamphetamine.htm

the car, which is taking up real estate and not paying rent. The man is set to leave prison and would like to sell the car, with proceeds going towards a fresh start, and so he asserts his right to not be subject to an excessive fine.

This appeal is about a judgment which saw these two men as similarly situated — as equally entitled to constitutional intervention. But they are not. One man was asked to indirectly pay a private company a month's wage, because he didn't indulge the polite fiction that moving his domicile vehicle a block was important. The other is being asked to surrender the instrumentality of a felony. Where one man's life was turned upside down for parking his vehicle on a municipally-owned lot; the other wants to start a new life by selling a vehicle that has been safekept by taxpayers on a municipally-owned lot ever since it was last used to transport methamphetamine.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The City of Kent, petitioner, is a municipality.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals' published decision issued on October 25, 2021. (copy of decision at Appendix A) (Hernandez v. City of Kent, No. 81783-3-I, 2021 Wash. App. LEXIS 2517 (Ct. App. Oct. 25, 2021).

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. When the constitutionality of the forfeiture of an instrumentality of a serious crime is challenged as excessive, is it error for the court to rely solely on a single factor in determining gross disproportionality?
- 2. Is it in error for the court to set aside the presumption of constitutionality which applies to fines set by the legislature, in favor of its own policy determination?
- 3. Did the court err by finding *salvo contenemento* weighed against proportionality, where the finder of fact found the forfeiture would have no effect on livelihood?
- 4. Did the court err by conflating present financial condition with future ability to earn a livelihood in its proportionality analysis?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. FACTUAL HISTORY

On June 22, 2018, Jacobo-Hernandez arrived at a sting operation in a Dodge Charger. CP 333. Within a covered garage, Jacobo-Hernandez unloaded and delivered to law enforcement eight heat-sealed and zip locked baggies containing approximately 8lbs of methamphetamine, valued between \$25,000 and \$30,000. CP 258, 504. He admitted to having made several other deliveries prior to being caught. CP 51. Subsequently, Jacobo-Hernandez entered a plea of guilty to 21 U.S.C. §841, Possession with Intent to Distribute Methamphetamine. CP 255. The Dodge Charger was placed in the custody of the City of Kent and is stipulated to be valued at \$3,000. CP 216.

The statutory penalty applicable to Jacobo-Hernandez's crime is a mandatory minimum term of 10 years, a fine of up to ten million dollars (\$10,000,000.00), a mandatory minimum term of supervised release of five (5) years, and a mandatory

special assessment of one hundred (\$100) dollars. CP 421.

However, the Sentencing Guidelines recommended a lower punishment for Jacobo-Hernandez's offense level of 26. CP 424. In entering the plea, Jacobo-Hernandez acknowledged "that a consequence of pleading guilty may include the forfeiture of certain property either as a part of the sentence imposed by the Court, or as a result of civil judicial or administrative process." CP 422. The District Court sentenced Jacobo-Hernandez to 24-month imprisonment and waived non-mandatory fines. CP 432, 436.

B. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The City of Kent initiated forfeiture proceedings under RCW 69.50.505, and a hearing was held before a Hearing Examiner on August 7, 2019. Jacobo-Hernandez, through counsel, asserted the affirmative defense that the forfeiture violated the Excessive Fines Clause of the U.S. Constitution. The Hearing Examiner concluded the forfeiture was constitutional, as it was proportional to the crime and there was

no evidence that it was necessary for Jacobo-Hernandez's livelihood. CP 161.

On October 8, 2019, Jacobo-Hernandez, through counsel, appealed to the King County Superior Court, reasserting his excessive fine argument. The Superior Court conducted a proportionality analysis and considered each factor in tandem, noting that it cannot focus on a single factor. CP 508. The Court concluded that forfeiture was not grossly disproportionate and affirmed the Hearing Examiner's decision. *Id*.

The matter was subsequently brought to the Court of Appeals. CP 509. A settlement in principle was reached prior to oral arguments, but the Court denied Jacobo-Hernandez's motion to dismiss. Appx. A-6. On October 25, 2021, an opinion was published reversing the Superior Court. Appx. A-18. The Court of Appeals acknowledged that all but one of the factors weighed towards proportionality. Appx. A-13. Nonetheless, because Jacobo-Hernandez is indigent and the car was his sole asset, the court concluded that the forfeiture of Jacobo-

Hernandez's vehicle was grossly disproportionate and violated the Eighth Amendment. Appx. A-15.

VI. ARGUMENT FOR GRANTING REVIEW

The Court of Appeals' decision (1) is in conflict with the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Bajakajian*, and misapplies this Court's decision in *Long*, (2) is in conflict with its own holding in *Long*, that a legislative prerogative should be respected, (3) raises significant issues of both the State and U.S. Constitutions involving excessive fines; and (4) involves an issue of substantial public interest, as it affects countless forfeiture proceedings throughout the state.

1. The court erred by allowing a single factor of the gross proportionality test be dispositive, when all other factors weighed towards proportionality.

The court's decision is in conflict with the U.S. Supreme Court's decisions in *Bajakajian* and *Helm*; it improperly equivocates this matter to this Court's recent decision in *Long*.

a. From the start, modern jurisprudence which has considered the means of an individual in analyzing the proportionality of an excessive fine has consistently found inability to pay to be insufficient by itself.

The court erred by finding, "[e]ven given all the other proportionality factors weighing against Jacobo Hernandez, it seems illogical that the Constitution would allow the State to deprive him of his only asset, a \$3,000 vehicle, when he has been found to be indigent." Appx. A-15.

The modern revival of *salvo contenemento* considerations in excessive fine analysis began in the First Circuit.² Judge Lynch authored two decisions which began the trend of considering means as a part of the proportionality standard; a consideration which recently reached Washington state jurisprudence in *City of Seattle v. Long*, 198 Wn.2d 136, 155 (2021). *E.g. United States v. Jose*, 499 F.3d 105, 113 (1st Cir. 2007); *United States v. Levesque*, 546 F.3d 78, 85 (1st Cir.

_

² Nicholas M. McLean, *Livelihood, Ability to Pay, and the Original Meaning of the Excessive Fines Clause*, 40 Hastings Const.L.Q. 833, 835 (2013). Available at: https://repository.ouchastings_edu/hastings_constitional_law_quarterly/vol40/iss4/4

2008). This new, but also very old, consideration was introduced as a companion to the proportionality factors derived from the U.S. Supreme Court's analysis in *United States v. Bajakajian*, 524 U.S. 321, 335 (1998). There remains a circuit split on the inclusion of this factor to the proportionality analysis. *Long*, 198 Wn.2d at 170. In articulating this new consideration, one of the principles expressed by the First Circuit in *Levesque* was that "a defendant's inability to satisfy a forfeiture at the time of conviction, in and of itself, is not at all sufficient to render a forfeiture unconstitutional, nor is it even the correct inquiry." 546 F.3d at 85.

This approach to integrating the *salvo contenemento* consideration in determining proportionality, but not making ability to pay dispositive, has been adopted by a number of other federal circuits. Quoting *Levesque*, the Eighth Circuit found that an individual's inability to satisfy a \$10,000 forfeiture at the time of sentencing did not by itself make the judgment grossly disproportional, due to the individual's

culpability in storing ten pounds of methamphetamine for distribution. *United States v. Smith*, 656 F.3d 821, 828-29 (8th Cir. 2011) ("[a]t least five circuits have held that § 853 permits imposition of a money judgment on a defendant who has no assets at the time of sentencing."). The Second Circuit has noted that "a forfeiture that deprives a defendant of his livelihood might nonetheless be constitutional, depending on his culpability or other circumstances." *United States v. Viloski*, 814 F.3d 104, 112 (2d Cir. 2016).

Indeed, looking at *any* factor in isolation would be in error. This Court in *Long*, reversed in part because the court's analysis focused solely on the single factor of remediation to the government for the costs of prosecution. *Long*, 198 Wn.2d at 114. On remand from the U.S. Supreme Court, the Supreme Court of Indiana emphasized that its decision of gross disproportionality was a close one which involved **multiple** factors:

To be sure, the Land Rover's forfeiture is not unconstitutional just because Timbs was poor. Or because he suffered from addiction.³ Or because he dealt drugs to an undercover officer and not someone who would use them.4 And it's not simply because the vehicle's value was three-anda-half times the maximum fine for the underlying offense.⁵ Or because he received the minimum possible sentence for his crime and wasn't a sophisticated, experienced dealer.⁶ Or because the car, his only asset, was essential to him reintegrating into society to maintain employment and seek treatment.7 Rather, it's the confluence of all these facts that makes Timbs the unusual claimant who could overcome the high hurdle of showing gross disproportionality.

State v. Timbs, 169 N.E.3d 361, 376 (Ind. 2021).

³ Jacobo-Hernandez has not averred that addiction contributed to his crime.

⁴ As opposed to here, where several other trips occurred, such that tens of thousands of doses of poison *did* make it into the community. CP 152.

⁵ As opposed to here, where the fine is *less* than the maximum prescribed by law. *See infra* p.21.

⁶ *Timbs* involved a user reselling locally several hundred dollars of heroin; whereas Jacobo-Hernandez was conveying tens of thousands of dollars of contraband across state lines to supply the unregulated drug market.

⁷ The record is devoid of a finding that the car is necessary for Jacobo-Hernandez's livelihood. CP 161; *see also infra* p.23.

This approach of looking at all factors is doctrinally in sync with the U.S. Supreme Court's treatment of proportionality in another Eighth Amendment context, the Cruel and Unusual Punishment Clause. *Solem v. Helm*, 463 U.S. 277, 290 n.17 (1983). In *that* Eighth Amendment context, the Court expressly stated that "no one factor will be dispositive in a given case," and that "no single criterion can identify when a sentence is so grossly disproportionate that it violates the Eighth Amendment." *Id.* There is no compelling reason to think that this wholistic approach to using a multi-factored test would not apply here, to the Excessive Fines Clause.

b. The court erred by allowing a single factor to overcome the rest.

The Superior Court understood this principle. CP 508.

("the Court cannot focus on only one of the seven ... factors").

The Court of Appeals *expressly* disregarded it. Appx. A-15 ("an individual's financial circumstances <u>can</u> make a forfeiture grossly disproportionate, even when all other factors support a finding otherwise.").

The court's passing explanation for this disregard was simplistic: this Court in *Long* "meticulously examine[d] the history of the Eighth Amendment and the Magna Carta" and as a result of the "extensive history upon which the court relies" there is a suggestion that "an individual's ability to pay can outweigh all other factors." Appx. A-14.

This suggestion divined by the court, ignores an obvious explanation for the expansive treatment of the *salvo* contenemento factor in *Long*: this Court was adopting a new prong and had to explain why.

The effect of the Court of Appeal's *ipse dixit* reasoning is an abrogation of the factors established by *Bajakajian*, in direct contradiction of principles of *stare decises*. The court allowed this single consideration to control, by discounting and subordinating the controlling factors articulated by the U.S. Supreme Court and acknowledged by this Court. The effect of *Long* cannot be to overrule *Bajakajian* through implication, which is what the Court of Appeal's application of *Long* has

done. To be sure, *Bajakajian*'s framework is permissive enough to allow the sort of judicial gloss originally developed in *Jose* and *Levesque*, and which has been adopted here in *Long*, but that gloss cannot entirely supplant the Excessive Fine Clause framework provided by the U.S. Supreme Court.

c. The Court of Appeals' analogy to *Long* is flawed – the posture is inapposite to the present matter.

The infirmness of the Court of Appeal's reasoning can be traced in part to its uncritical comparison to *Long* – the case it almost exclusively cited to in analyzing the dispositive issue of proportionality. Appx. A-13–A-16. Both *Long* and this matter involve an affirmative defense which asserts the Excessive Fines Clause prevents government action. That is where the similarities stop, to wit:

• Long involved a civil penalty and debt. Long, 198 Wn.2d at 155 ("The impoundment and associated costs are not analogous to civil forfeiture."). This is a civil forfeiture related to a felony.

- Long involved a \$537 impoundment charge not authorized by the legislature. 198 Wn.2d at 175-76. This involves a forfeiture authorized by the legislature, valued at less than the U.S. Sentencing Guidelines' \$10,000,000 recommended maximum fine.
- The actions in *Long* did not relate to any other crime. *Id.* at 155. The actions here involve tens of thousands of dollars of intermediary, wholesale, interstate drug transactions, and thousands of dollars of unreported and presumably untaxed income.
- Parking on an out of the way, unused gravel lot in *Long* had minimal impact to the community. *Id.* at 173-74. The actions here involve the predatory act of delivering tens of thousands of doses of poison to a community wracked by a drug epidemic, which further exacerbated an ongoing mental health epidemic.⁸

⁸ See University of Washington, supra note 1.

- Long involved an ongoing payment plan, with late fees and risk of collection costs. *Id.* This involves forfeiture of a single asset, and no future obligations or garnishment.
- Long had an apparent impact on livelihood, as tools of trade and domicile were seized, though this Court remanded for findings. Id. at 174-77 ("A natural venue for this inquiry is an impoundment hearing in municipal court."). Here, there was fact finding and a Hearing Examiner found the forfeiture would not impact Jacobo-Hernandez's livelihood.

The Court of Appeals has erred by misapplying *Long*.

2. The court failed to give proper weight to legislative prerogative.

A strong presumption of constitutionality should be applied when the legislature has spoken.

a. <u>Congressional intent creates a strong presumption.</u>

In "deriving a constitutional excessiveness standard" the

U.S. Supreme Court held, "judgments about the appropriate

punishment for an offense belong in the first instance to the legislature [and r]eviewing courts ... should grant substantial deference to the broad authority that legislatures necessarily possess in determining ... questions of legislative policy."

Bajakajian, 524 U.S. at 336 (emphasis added).

It is the role of the legislature to set the bounds of appropriate punishment for criminal behavior. "In view of the substantial deference that must be accorded legislatures and sentencing courts, a reviewing court rarely will be required to engage in extended analysis to determine that a sentence is not constitutionally disproportionate." *E.g. Solem v. Helm*, 463 U.S. 277, 290 n.16, (1983).

b. *Long* recognizes the presumption of constitutionality for legislatively authorized fines.

The Court of Appeals once understood this presumption

– in *Long* the Court of Appeals cited to *United States v. Seher*,

562 F.3d 1344, 1371 (11th Cir. 2009), and stated: "If the value of the fine or forfeiture is within the range prescribed by the legislative body, a strong presumption exists that a forfeiture is

constitutional." City of Seattle v. Long, 13 Wn. App. 2d 709, 731 (2020). To be sure, the Court of Appeals was reversed in Long — but not because this principle of respecting congressional prerogative was bad law, indeed this Court also cited to Seher and Bajakajian and suggested legislatures should be granted deference. Long, 198 Wn.2d at 175-76. The principle was simply inapplicable in that case because the fines at issue had not been approved by the legislature and were instead defined by a private party in a contract. Long does not stand for the proposition that it is the judiciary's role to define appropriate punishment, untethered from the legislature's will.

c. Courts may look to the maximum possible fine for the crime, or the U.S.S.G. in evaluating the "other penalties authorized" prong – this forfeiture satisfies either test.

In the proportionality analysis, deference to the legislature is generally borne out in a court's review of the "other penalties authorized" prong. Courts look to the maximum penalty allowable by the violated statute, or preferably the penalty recommended by the U.S. Sentencing

Commission Guidelines, due to the Guideline's assessment of culpability. *United States v. 3814 NW Thurman St.*, 164 F.3d 1191, 1197 (9th Cir. 1999).

Here, that number is the same, \$10,000,000, because the guidelines defer to the statute when the statute calls for a fine greater than \$500,000. U.S.S.G. § 5E1.2(c)(4). The court briefly acknowledged this amount, but failed to discuss, analyze, or give weight to the amount's numeric relationship to the \$3,000 value of the forfeiture. Appx. A-13. Under the proper analysis, the relationship between the \$10,000,000 authorized and the \$3,000 forfeiture should have granted a strong presumption of constitutionality under *Bajakajian*, which should have required a compelling confluence of the other factors to overcome. Such a confluence was not present here.

The Court of Appeals tread into novelty by not granting this presumption, and by declaring unconstitutional a forfeiture which is far below the range prescribed by the legislature. A review of other cases, in which a penalty was deemed an

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