FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/17/2021 10:29 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1003927

Court of Appeal Cause No. 81783-3

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF KENT, Petitioner

v.

ADRIAN JACOBO-HERNANDEZ, Respondent

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ALAN ZARKY, WSBA #15155
Staff Attorney
JOHN R. CARPENTER, WSBA #23501
Assistant Federal Public Defender
Attorneys for Respondent
Federal Public Defender Office
1331 Broadway, Suite 400
Tacoma, Washington 98402
Phone: (253) 593-6710

Email: alan_zarky@fd.org
Email: john_carpenter@fd.org

I. INTRODUCTION

This Court has held an individual's ability to pay is a factor to be weighed under the Excessive Fines Clause. *City of Seattle v. Long*, 198 Wn.2d 136, 493 P.3d 94 (2021). In the decision below, *Jacobo Hernandez v. City of Kent*, __ Wn.App. __, 497 P.3d. 871 (2021), the Court of Appeals applied that holding in the context of forfeiture based on criminal activity – a context where City of Kent ("Kent") does not dispute the Clause applies. *Id.* at 877. The court did exactly what it was supposed to – balance the various factors this Court has said are applicable, under the particular facts of the case.

Kent, unhappy with the outcome, raises a number of claims in an attempt to obtain discretionary review. It wrongly declares the decision below "abrogate[ed]" United States Supreme Court precedent "in direct contradiction of principles of *stare decises*," "overrule[d]" that precedent "through implication," and "entirely supplant[ed] the Excessive Fine

Clause framework provided by" that Court. Petition for Review (PFR) 15, 16.

The court below did no such thing. As can easily occur when a court conducts a multi-factor balancing test, the court found that — on this particular occasion — ability to pay outweighed the other factors, an outcome fully consistent with Supreme Court, and this Court's, precedent.

Kent also claims the court wrongly treated Mr. Jacobo-Hernandez as "similarly situated" to the Petitioner in *Long*, PFR 4; in fact the court simply applied *Long*'s holding about ability to pay to a different situation where it was undisputedly applicable.

Kent further asserts the decision leaves courts "to define appropriate punishment, untethered from the legislature's will." PFR 20. Not so: the court simply found that one particular forfeiture violated the Excessive Fines Clause.

Kent lastly raises a "parade of horribles." It claims the decision negatively affects "countless forfeiture proceedings

throughout the state," to the extent that even a \$10,000,000 yacht will be exempt from forfeiture. PFR 9, 26. This claim is based upon a complete misunderstanding of the law of forfeiture, and also based upon ignoring the particular circumstances of this case — a low-level drug courier who undertook a very few transactions, one who was evaluated by a federal district court judge as worthy of a remarkably low sentence, whose entire estate consisted of a "pittance," by Kent's concession, PFR 29, and who was deported in the middle of a pandemic.

Given the fact-specific nature of the decision below, one based on a balancing of all the appropriate factors, this Court should deny discretionary review.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. Jacobo-Hernandez was a valued member of the community for almost all his life. He worked in respected trades, and volunteered in his community, assisting those less fortunate than he. In a period of extreme economic desperation, he participated in three drug deliveries over a period of about three

months. Clerk's Papers (CP) 298-99, 370. On one of these deliveries, he used his own car, his sole possession. The car's value was approximately \$3,000. It is the forfeiture of this car – his entire estate – that is at the center of this dispute.

Despite the above undisputed facts, Kent's PFR leaves an impression that his role was greater than it was. Kent suggests he reaped immense "profit[s]" from his offense, and refers to "thousands of dollars of unreported and presumably untaxed income." PFR 29, 17. But the record does not support these suggestions at all. On the other hand, his codefendant "had been dealing methamphetamine for years and organized the entire drug-dealing scheme." 497 P.3d at 878.

The court had before it a much fuller picture of Mr. Jacobo-Hernandez and his offense, which, even if not directly mentioned in the opinion, was relevant to its conclusion that, in this particular case, depriving him of his livelihood was

unconstitutional.¹ He came to this country about 18 years ago and was not a career drug smuggler. Rather, he became a skilled tailor who was adept at fixing sewing machines. Those skills helped land him a job with a company making clothing samples. He held this job for a decade, until the company was sold. A coworker attested to his work history and character. CP 369.

He then worked as a tile installer for four years. That employer also confirmed his work history and his commitment to both his own kids and those in the community. CP 370. His marriage fell apart; with his wife as primary caretaker, he took custody of his children every weekend. *Id*.

He then opened up his own mobile car wash.

Unfortunately, one of his customers asked him to deliver drugs.

He agreed only because he was financially desperate at that point. He was arrested after completing his last of three deliveries. He did not purchase his car with drug funds. Rather,

¹ All facts in the remainder of this section, except where noted, are from his unrebutted declaration, CP 216-17.

he bought it out of salvage and restored it himself. 497 P.3d at 873.

His plan was, if forfeiture was denied, to either find a way to get the car to Mexico or sell it to have some funds to start a new life there.

Mr. Jacobo-Hernandez was not instrumental in developing the drug conspiracy or making decisions as to how that conspiracy would be carried out. He was a hired driver, nothing more, and he occupied this role for only a short time. In recognition of his minor role in the offense and the mitigating facts discussed above, the district court judge sentenced him to only two years imprisonment. After serving his sentence, he was deported to Mexico in the middle of the pandemic. CP 158.

III. THE DECISION BELOW IS NOT IN CONFLICT WITH ANY RELEVANT PRECEDENT.

A. The decision below is not in conflict with decisions of this Court or those of the United States Supreme Court.

Kent claims the decision below "abrogate[d] the factors established by" *United States v. Bajakajian*, 524 U.S. 321 (1998) PFR 15. Apparently, Kent's claim of "abrogation" is based only on its faulty assertion that the court relied "solely on a single factor in determining gross disproportionality[.]" PFR 5. In making this assertion, Kent misapprehends both the decision below and how courts conduct multi-factor balancing.

As to the decision below, the court specifically considered such appropriate factors as the nature and extent of the crime, its relation to other criminal activities, the potential penalties for the crime, and the legislative purpose of forfeiture. 497 P.3d at 878.²

² The factors identified in *Bajakajian* are not exclusive, allowing the court to consider any of the facts in the record. *Long*, 198 Wn.2d at 167.

It also looked to the requirement that "[c]ourts scrutinize 'governmental action more closely when the State stands to benefit," a factor never mentioned by Kent. *See* 497 P.3d at 879 (quoting *Long*, 493 Wn.2d at 113).

And contrary to Kent's apparent view, conducting a multifactor balancing test is not a matter of just counting which factors weigh in favor of each party, with the party favored by the most factors automatically winning. It is a matter of weighing all the factors in combination. Thus, a single factor can permissibly outweigh the others.

For example, in *Automotive United Trades Org. v. State*, 175 Wn.2d 214, 285 P.3d 52 (2012), this Court analyzed whether, when there was a necessary party to a civil suit whose joinder was not feasible, equity called for dismissal or instead for continuing the action. *Id.* at 222. The burden was on the party opposing dismissal. *Id.* at 223. This required balancing four factors. Three favored dismissal, one "strongly[.]" *Id.* at 231-32. But the fourth factor "counsel[led] strongly in favor of

proceeding" with litigation: dismissal would shield state action from constitutional challenge, which this Court considered sufficient to overcome the other factors in this particular case.

Just as Kent claims about the decision below, the sole dissenter in *Automotive United Trades Org* asserted the majority was "improperly focus[ing] on only one" factor] *Id.* at 243. But the majority didn't ignore the other factors, it simply concluded that, considering the relative strength of the various factors, one factor outweighed the others. That is also what the court did below.

Federal law is the same. See, e.g., Schoenberg v. Federal Bureau of Investigation, 2 F.4th 1270, 1278 (9th Cir. 2021) (factors "each involve a sliding scale, allowing one or more factors to outweigh the others"); United States v. Hobbs, 136 F.3d 384, 389 (4th Cir. 1998) (as to three relevant factors, "if any one of the factors has a strong presence, 'it can outweigh the others") (citation omitted); United States v. Fell, 531 F.3d 197, 234 (2d Cir. 2008) (reflecting that jury was told, as to factors

used to determine whether to impose death penalty, "you should not simply count the total number of aggravating and mitigating factors and reach a decision based on which number is greater; rather you should consider the weight and value of each factor"); In re Fjeldsted, 293 B.R. 12, 25 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. 2003) ("Mindful that [list of twelve factors at issue] are capable of being misconstrued as inviting arithmetic reasoning, we emphasize that these items are merely a framework for analysis and not a scorecard. In any given case, one factor may so outweigh the others as to be dispositive.")

At one point, the Court of Appeals stated *Long* allowed it to "focus on only one factor." 497 P.3d at 878. But the court's discussion shows it did not mean a focus that excluded consideration of other factors. It instead meant it could "allow one factor to dominate the conclusion in a given case," a completely appropriate outcome of factor-balancing. This one instance of arguably ambiguous wording is hardly a basis for exercising discretionary review, especially when that arguable

ambiguity is fully resolved by the remainder of the court's analysis.

The court's statement that ability to pay "can outweigh" the other factors also demonstrates the court realized this factor does not automatically outweigh the other factors, only that it did in Mr. Jacobo-Hernandez's case. 497 P.3d at 876 (emphasis added). See also id. n.14 (stressing it was the facts of this case that led to the court's conclusion). Indeed, Kent at one point effectively admits that the court considered all factors. PFR 8.

As Kent acknowledges, *State v. Timbs*, 169 N.E.3d 361, 376 (Ind. 2021), also found forfeiture excessive, similarly looking to ability to pay as a factor. Kent's contention that *Timbs* is contrary to the decision below, PFR 13, is based solely on the incorrect assertion that the Court of Appeals considered only that one factor.

In short, that the court below weighed the factors differently than Kent wished it had does not put the decision in

conflict with any controlling authority. ³ Nor does it make this case appropriate for discretionary review.

B. Kent's discussion of other federal decisions is irrelevant to the validity (or reviewworthiness) of the decision below.

Kent discusses at length several aspects of federal case law. None of Kent's points are relevant to whether the decision below should be reviewed.

Kent notes there is a federal circuit split on whether ability to pay should be part of the analysis. PFR 10-11. This observation is really just a complaint about *Long*, where this Court ruled in favor of including that factor. 198 Wn.2d at 173. *Long* was unanimously decided on this issue only four months ago.

4, discussed in Part VII.

³ The City claims the decision "misapplies" *Long*. PFR 9. That contention, too, is incorrect and appears to be based primarily on the decision's supposed errors in conducting balancing, discussed in this section, and the decision's supposed treating of Mr. Jacobo-Hernandez as "similarly situated" to Mr. Long, PFR

Kent also cites several federal cases as holding an "inability to satisfy a forfeiture at the time of conviction, in and of itself' cannot render a forfeiture unconstitutional. PFR 11 (quoting United States v. Levesque, 546 F.3d 78, 85 (1st Cir. 2008)). But *Levesque*'s very next sentence makes clear it was not talking about *in rem* forfeitures, where the property is taken from the person at the time of judgment. Rather, Levesque was addressing money judgment forfeitures, where the fact the individual cannot immediately pay the entire amount does not necessarily mean the forfeiture would deprive him of his livelihood – the government may delay that forfeiture, by setting a payment plan or seizing assets in the future to satisfy the judgment. 546 F.3d at 85. Thus, "even if there is 'no sign' that the defendant could satisfy the forfeiture in the future, there is always a possibility that she might be fortunate enough 'to legitimately come into money." *Id.* The same is true of *United* States v. Smith, 656 F.3d 821, 828-29 (8th Cir. 2011), and United States v. Viloski, 814 F.3d 104, 112 (2d Cir. 2016). PFR 12.

These cases are thus totally inapposite to this case, where the impact of forfeiture is right now, not at some time in the remote future. And here, the federal sentencing court rightly concluded that Mr. Jacobo-Hernandez "would likely never become able to pay" financial penalties. *Jacobo Hernandez*, 497 P.3d at 880.

Third, Kent tries to compare this case to a number of federal decisions finding forfeiture constitutional. PFR 22-23 and Appendix C. These cases are really of no use in evaluating the decision below. Most particularly, almost none even considered the issue of ability to pay. Appendix 1. Since that is a factor this Court has specifically endorsed using, these cases cannot shed light on the balancing conducted by the court below.

In addition, in many of these cases, the facts are not at all comparable. The claimants in many were occupied in high-level

-

⁴ This is hardly surprising. About half the decisions were issued before the new judicial recognition of the history of the Excessive Fines Clause; many of the rest were announced shortly after that recognition. *See* PFR at 10 (stating the "trend of considering means as a part of the proportionality standard" did not even begin until 2007).

drug conspiracies involving millions of dollars' worth of narcotics. The sentences imposed were as high as 660 months. ⁵ In almost all cases, there was no indication the claimant possessed only a pittance or would be left destitute by the forfeiture. Some involved money judgment forfeitures, where if the claimant cannot currently afford the complete forfeiture, it can occur later. *See* p. 13-14, *supra*. Finally, some cases did not involve forfeiture of an instrumentality, but of proceeds of crime. In those, it can be argued the claimant never had any right to the asset. They are thus not at all relevant to this case. The fact that Kent invites this Court to examine such cases only confirms how fact-dependent the decision below was.

Kent's Appendix B is even less relevant. Kent does not purport to have found *all* decisions finding forfeiture unconstitutional or remanding for findings: it simply cherrypicked some. And most of these cases did not consider ability to

⁵ United States v. Candelaria-Silva, 166 F.3d 19, 26 (1st Cir. 1999).

pay. Of course, of the many omitted federal cases finding forfeiture to be constitutional, most did not consider that factor either, given the relative recency of case law requiring that consideration.

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